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‘Beethoven’s music continues to form one of the cornerstones of the concert repertoire some 200 years after it was written, and its sheer ingenuity and inventiveness never cease to amaze the perceptive listener. Knowing the context in which it was written can aid our understanding of the music, and every biography of Beethoven’s unusual life has something new to say. Although some aspects of his life, such as his deafness, and his great love for his only nephew, are well known, this book also includes many details that are less familiar. John Suchet writes with infectious enthusiasm, and his avoidance of technical detail makes this a biography that can be read and understood by anyone interested in the composer.’


—Professor Barry Cooper
University of Manchester, leading authority on Beethoven


‘John Suchet offers us a fascinating and touchingly human insight into a great figure who has consumed him for decades. By exercising a genuine authority in identifying how Beethoven, the man, manifests himself in our appreciation of the music, Suchet brings an incisive freshness to an extraordinary life. The results in his “Beethovenia” are always rigorously researched and accompanied by a passion to communicate the composer’s true essence.’


—Professor Jonathan Freeman-Attwood
Principal, Royal Academy of Music, London


‘John Suchet’s wonderfully readable biography of Beethoven will give a fresh insight for many people into the happenings behind the music. It will appeal to the music lover who wants to enhance the experience of listening to some of the greatest music ever written.’


—Angela Hewitt OC OBE
Concert pianist


‘I have loved and performed Beethoven since I was very young and have read a good deal about the life and times of this giant among composers, but John Suchet’s infectious enthusiasm and fascination, probing the details behind every step of his life, and turning sensitive sleuth when the facts are less clear, opens new vistas and makes for a gripping and thought-provoking read.’


—Howard Shelley OBE
Concert pianist and conductor
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For my children, grandchildren and their children, safe in the knowledge that all will know Beethoven’s music
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Note on this Edition





Strange though it may seem to us today, given the universal popularity of his music and how well known so much of it is, Beethoven’s compositions number relatively few – in comparison to his two great contemporaries, Mozart and Haydn.


Beethoven wrote nine symphonies; Mozart forty-one; Haydn an extraordinary 104. He wrote sixteen string quartets; Mozart twenty-three; Haydn sixty-eight. There are five piano concertos by Beethoven; twenty-seven by Mozart; and eleven by Haydn (including harpsichord and organ). Beethoven wrote a single violin concerto, compared to Mozart’s five and Haydn’s four. Beethoven wrote only one opera (albeit three versions of it), while Mozart composed more than twenty and Haydn fourteen. When it comes to sacred works, Beethoven’s total of three is easily outnumbered by Mozart with eighteen masses and Haydn with eight. And those are just the most important works.


There is another distinguishing feature. Both Mozart and Haydn found the compositional process quite straightforward. Composing his first symphony at the age of eight, Mozart wrote music the way you and I might write letters or emails. He wrote music when asked to, when he wanted to, or simply to amuse himself or pass the time. Haydn was committed to a heavy workload in the employ of Prince Esterházy yet nevertheless managed to compose nearly 500 works in his lifetime, as well as organising and directing concerts. Of all his duties, composing came most easily to him.


How different it was for Beethoven! Even a cursory look at the manuscripts and sketchbooks reveals a composer who seemed to struggle at every turn. There are crossings out, angry slashings of the pen, scratching so violent the paper is torn. That struggle, of course, is manifest in the music. It is as though Beethoven tore the music out of himself and paid the price, both physically and emotionally.


What, then, is that essential quality that inhabits Beethoven’s music, that permeates every bar of music he wrote? Is it enough to call it a struggle? A simple explanation would be that his music represents a journey from darkness into light. That is certainly true of his Fifth Symphony. But perhaps that is too simple. Take the famous opening bars of that work – as I have often said, surely the most famous bars in all classical music. Three short notes and a long one. That is not a theme or a melody; it is a motif. Just four notes, and yet what Beethoven goes on to do with so few notes is nothing short of miraculous. He takes us on a journey – from darkness into light – unique in music.


Most composers create a theme or a melody and then expand it. Beethoven so often does the reverse. He contracts and fragments it. The final movement of Symphony No. 3, the ‘Eroica’, is a perfect example. Not a conventional theme and variations, but the reverse: fragmented variations first, which finally lead to the theme. It’s upside down and the wrong way round.


Beethoven was a rule-breaker. This was evident from his earliest years. Exercise books with one of his teachers are replete with red crosses where the teacher rejected what he had written. It was not that what he had written was actually wrong; it was that he was refusing to obey the rules – of harmony, counterpoint, fugue, contrabass and so on – and therefore it was inadmissible.


That refusal to obey the rules would be the hallmark of Beethoven the composer. Changes of key, stresses on the off-beat, bar lines ignored, dynamics unpredictable, soft where it should be loud, loud where it should be soft. However well you know Beethoven’s music, he still takes you by surprise at every turn. To me that is the key to the enduring freshness and vitality of his music.


All that, however, misses the essential ingredient that makes Beethoven’s music immortal, that has made him the greatest composer who ever lived. It is, in my opinion, a quality that no other composer possesses. And that ingredient is . . . If we could answer that question then the music would instantly be diminished. I cannot say; you cannot say; no one can say exactly what it is.


We can say that Beethoven’s music lifts the spirit, that to listen to his music makes you feel you can overcome any problem life may throw at you. After all, if he can conquer the greatest affliction to befall a musician – deafness – then by listening to his music we can surely be inspired to overcome ours. That still does not give us an answer.


We know what Beethoven’s music can do for us, even if we do not fully understand why. The best answer to the question, the most accurate and informative way to sum up his music, is to describe the effect it can have, in the words of those who have experienced it.


Soon after my first book on Beethoven was published back in 1996, I received a letter from a reader in his forties who told me that when he was just sixteen years of age his brother, a soldier, was killed in Northern Ireland. Six months later his mother died. He entered a spiral of misery and depression. ‘Only Beethoven’s music got me through,’ he wrote. No further explanation, no details on which pieces of music; just a statement of fact.


Again back in the late 1990s, I was signing copies of my book after an early talk I gave on Beethoven. An elderly gentleman came up to me and said: ‘I just want you to know, Beethoven saved my life. Twice.’ And he walked away without another word. I can think of no other composer of whom those words could be said.


This year, 2020, we celebrate the 250th anniversary of Beethoven’s birth. We can say with certainty that his birth will be celebrated for countless centuries, and by countless generations, to come.














Preface





This is an account of Beethoven’s life, in accordance with current scholarship and research. Given that new facts and information emerge constantly, there are some aspects of this book that will inevitably become outdated or even prove incorrect. This is true of all biographies of great figures. I have not let it deter me from setting down the life as we perceive it today.


I make no great claim to having unearthed previously undiscovered facts about Beethoven’s life. Everything in this book has been published in source material or previous biographies. But I do believe that a substantial amount of the information I have included, particularly about his childhood, has not been published for many decades, in some cases for a century or more, and I am certain never in English.


Beethoven’s childhood and teenage years, I believe, were the making of him as a man and musician. For that reason I have examined them closely, and some of his experiences I have recounted in forensic detail. His trip with the court orchestra up the Rhine, for instance, rarely merits a mention in biographies, or is accorded at most a line or two, yet it provided the youthful Beethoven with a bank of memories – and a physical artefact – that he treasured for life.


Of Beethoven it is perhaps more true than of any other composer that if you know what is going on in his life you listen to his music through different ears. Beethoven’s life – its dramas, conflicts, loves and losses, his deafness coupled with continuous health problems, his epic struggle with his sister-in-law for custody of her son, his nephew – is there in his music. Without such knowledge his music is still extraordinary, and I believe many people who today love it do so without any deep understanding of his life. But to know what is happening to him at the time of a particular composition puts that work on a different level for the listener. Beethoven’s music is his autobiography.


My approach to the life of this great artist, as in my previous publications on him, is that of enthusiast and lover of his music, rather than musicologist. Consequently this book is aimed primarily at like-minded people, though I hope the academics will give it their approval. It is, for instance, of more interest to me that Beethoven initially dedicated the ‘Eroica’ Symphony to Napoleon Bonaparte than that he chose to write it in E flat. At all times I have striven to set the music into the context of his life, to explain where he was living at the time of a particular composition, why he chose to write it, the reasons behind the dedication, the state of his health, his non-musical activities, rather than present an analysis of the movement structure, key signature, thematic links.


In a nutshell I have tried to portray a difficult and complex character, struggling to continue his profession as musician despite increasing deafness, alienating friends with unprovoked outbursts of anger one moment, overwhelming them with excessive kindness and generosity the next, living in a city in almost constant turmoil because of war with France, rather than the godlike immortal portrayed in statues and paintings in heroic pose garlanded with laurel leaves.


He might have been one of the greatest artists who ever lived, but he was a still a man who had to live among fellow mortals, eat and drink, buy clothes, pay his rent. That is the Beethoven of this book.














Prologue





In the early afternoon of 29 March 1827 thousands of people flocked towards the Altes Schwarzspanierhaus, as word spread across Vienna that Beethoven had died. Their numbers grew, and soon they thronged the courtyard of the building to such an extent that the gates had to be closed. They crowded along the Alsergasse and spilled onto the green Glacis that sloped up to the Bastei, the city wall. Soon there was barely space between Beethoven’s residence and the Votivkirche, where the Funeral Mass was to be held.


On the second floor of the Schwarzspanierhaus, inside Beethoven’s apartment, a small group of men made final adjustments to the polished oak coffin and the corpse it contained. Beethoven’s head, adorned with a wreath of white roses, lay on a white silk pillow. It was a grotesque sight, belying the identity of Europe’s most revered composer. The temporal bones, along with the auditory nerves, had been removed at post-mortem for further investigation, leaving the joint of the lower jaw with no support. The famously leonine face, with strongly defined jawbone, was distorted almost beyond recognition.


Into the folded hands a wax cross and a large lily were placed. Two more large lilies lay on either side of the body. Eight candles burned alongside the coffin. On the table at the foot of the coffin stood a crucifix, holy water for sprinkling, and ears of corn. At 3 p.m. the coffin was closed, and the group prepared to move it down the staircase and out into the courtyard.


By this time the crowd had grown restless. Soldiers from the nearby barracks were drafted in to keep order. There was a fear that the horses could be frightened or, worse, that the coffin could be disturbed. The soldiers cleared the courtyard and the gates were again closed. As the coffin was brought out of the building, the crowd surged forward, but the gates, soldiers on the inner side, held firm. As nine priests offered blessings and the Italian court singers intoned a funeral song, a heavy pall was spread over the coffin and a large wreath laid on the embroidered cross.


When everything was ready, the gates were opened, but the crowd surged forward again, overwhelming the soldiers. They pushed against the bier, dislodging the pallbearers and chief mourners. It took several minutes to restore order. Eight Kapellmeister, four on each side, took hold of the pall with one hand, a candle wrapped in crepe in the other. On both sides of them stood around forty torchbearers. Behind the coffin were the chief mourners, close friends and family; in front of it musicians, civic dignitaries, and the clergy.


The order was given, the four horses took the strain, and amid a clatter of chains and a cacophony of hooves, the procession moved off. Vienna, for so many centuries capital of the Holy Roman Empire, seat of the Holy Roman Emperor, had never seen scenes like it, nor had so many thousands of people ever thronged its streets.*


It was an appropriate tribute to a man whose music had touched people in a way that no composer’s had before, who had changed the course of music, and whose compositions would speak to people down the generations and for all time. But it was also somewhat unfitting, given that Beethoven’s music was not unanimously applauded in his lifetime, that his circle of friends and supporters was really quite small, that no great effort had been made in his difficult and painful final years to make his living conditions more palatable, and that on the whole there was no great stir in Vienna when it became clear their most famous resident was terminally ill.


In fact, the extraordinary homage he was accorded in death was simply the final inexplicable act in a lifetime of paradox and contradiction.





 


 




* The newssheet Der Sammler estimated the number at 10,000; Gerhard von Breuning in Aus dem Schwarzspanierhaus at 20,000.

















Chapter 1


The Spaniard


In which a momentous life begins





It was an inauspicious start. We cannot be certain of the day on which Beethoven was born, since his birth certificate has not survived, and in the baptismal register his mother is given the wrong first name, Helena rather than Magdalena (possibly because both names share the diminutive Lenchen). The date given in the register for the baptism of the Beethoven infant Ludovicus is 17 December 1770, and the place St Remigius’s Church in Bonn. It was customary for baptism to be carried out within twenty-four hours of birth; therefore it is likely that Beethoven was born on 16 December, with the lesser possibilities of the 15th in the late evening or 17th in the early hours. Given that there is a strong likelihood that the birth certificate was wilfully destroyed (as I will recount later), it is probable that we shall never know for sure the date of his birth.


More auspiciously, there is a legend that Beethoven was born with a caul, that is with part of the amniotic sac covering the face. Traditionally this carries beneficial supernatural qualities, such as protecting the individual from drowning, giving healing powers or endowing clairvoyance. He himself lent weight to the legend (or possibly created it) by writing to a publisher that he was born ‘with an obbligato accompaniment’. The passage in the letter, which refers to his Septet, Op. 20, is clearly written in jest: ‘I cannot compose anything that is not obbligato, seeing that, as a matter of fact, I came into the world with an obbligato accompaniment.’ I have not found any other reference to it in any source.


Beethoven was the eldest, but not the firstborn, and to say that his arrival brought unbridled joy to his parents, or even to say that he was born into a normal and loving family, would be a considerable overstatement. For a start, both sides opposed the marriage of his parents, Johann van Beethoven and Maria Magdalena Leym née Keverich. It seems the reason was the same for both families: that both were thought to be marrying beneath themselves.


To take the Beethoven family first. Ludwig van Beethoven the elder, the future composer’s grandfather, had established himself as the most senior, and therefore the most respected, musician in Bonn. He had left his home town of Malines in Flanders (today Mechelen in Belgium) at the age of twenty-one and settled in Bonn, where he was given a position as bass soloist and singer in the court choir. At the age of forty-nine he was appointed Kapellmeister, which put him in charge of music at court – in the chapel, concert hall, theatre, and court ballroom. This earned him a substantial salary and enormous prestige. In addition he ran a wholesale wine business on the side. It was probably not on any grand scale, but his income from the court, together with proceeds from the sale of wine, allowed him to rent two apartments, as well as cellars for storage. He was also wealthy enough to lend money to a number of people.


Ludwig’s son Johann gained a position as tenor in the court choir. This brought him in a modest salary, which he supplemented by giving clavier and singing lessons to sons and daughters of well-off English and French families attached to the embassies, as well as to members of the nobility.


Father and son lived together in a large and well-furnished apartment at Rheingasse 934 (where, later, Ludwig van Beethoven was to spend many childhood years). In a later memoir, the child of the owner of the house, who remembered the Beethoven family living there, described the Kapellmeister’s apartment as being




beautiful and proper and well arranged, with valuables, all six rooms provided with beautiful furniture, many paintings and cupboards, a cupboard of silver service, a cupboard with fine gilded porcelain and glass, an assortment of the most beautiful linen which could be drawn through a ring, and everything from the smallest article sparkled like silver.





But there was a cloud hanging over the Beethoven family. The Kapellmeister’s wife, Maria Josepha Poll, became an alcoholic and had to be moved out of the family apartment to be cared for in a special home. It is not known when this action was taken, but it was almost certainly before Johann’s marriage, because at the wedding Ludwig senior was reported to have tears streaming from his eyes, and when asked about it he replied that he was thinking about his own wedding and marriage. It is known that Maria Josepha stayed in seclusion until her death in 1775.


There is no evidence that any member of the Beethoven family ever visited Maria Josepha in the home, and although Ludwig van Beethoven was nearly five when his grandmother died, he is not reported to have spoken about her a single time in his life, nor did he ever refer to her in correspondence. This is all the more remarkable since the elder Ludwig predeceased his wife by nearly two years and yet Beethoven spoke about his beloved grandfather and wrote about him time after time, and treasured his portrait (which stayed with him almost all his adult life and was in his apartment when he died).


Of course he took pride in his grandfather’s accomplishments as a musician, and presumably felt shame at his grandmother’s descent into alcoholism, but it seems as if he erased his grandmother’s existence from his mind. This is more than likely due to the fact that he watched his own father descend into alcoholism, thus making the whole question of alcohol something that was not for discussion. But that did not stop Beethoven himself in later years consuming enormous quantities, as will become clear as the story progresses, to the extent that it brought about the cirrhosis of the liver that was the probable cause of his death.


Clearly the Beethoven family had a liking for alcohol – Beethoven’s grandmother and father were both alcoholics, and he himself was probably a victim of it. It is tempting to suggest that ready quantities of wine in the household from the elder Ludwig’s business sideline meant it was easily accessible for the family, and certainly early biographers attribute the family tendency to this. It is indeed likely that there was a generous supply of wine on the table, although the Kapellmeister kept his wine in storage in rented cellars, and there are no reports that he himself ever over-imbibed.


But alcohol and its effects aside, the Beethoven family was highly respected, thanks to the accomplishments of Ludwig senior, and lived in a certain amount of comfort. So when Johann announced to his father, as a fait accompli, that he intended marrying Maria Magdalena Leym, of Ehrenbreitstein, the Kapellmeister was appalled. He made enquiries and established not only that she was a widow, but had been a housemaid. The Fischers at Rheingasse 934 heard him explode to his son, ‘I never believed or expected that you would so degrade yourself!’


In fact his misgivings were largely misplaced. Maria Magdalena’s family included a number of wealthy merchants, as well as court councillors and senators. Her late father, Heinrich Keverich, had been chief overseer of the kitchen at the palace of the Elector of Trier at Ehrenbreitstein. True, he was ‘in service’, but it was a senior position, and he was in the employ of the most powerful and prestigious local dignitary, the Prince-Elector.* Furthermore, there is no evidence that Maria Magdalena was ever a housemaid.


Where Ludwig senior was correct was that Maria Magdalena was already widowed. More than that, she had experienced more sadness than a teenage woman should have had to bear. At sixteen she married a certain Johann Leym, and bore him a son. The child died in infancy, and her husband died not long after. She was thus a widow who had lost a child before she was nineteen.


Ludwig senior might have been influenced by the fact that Maria Magdalena’s father had died many years before, leaving her mother as the family breadwinner, working as a cook at the court. Her mother was clearly already in fragile mental health, because she suffered a psychological breakdown soon after the marriage. She had one other surviving child, a son (four other children having died in infancy), and there was patently no prospect of a substantial dowry coming with the intended bride.


It seems an accumulation of unfortunate circumstances, combined with his own prejudices, turned Ludwig senior against the marriage, to such an extent that he refused to attend the ceremony ‘unless the thing were quickly over with’.


The Keverich family was apparently no more enthusiastic about the union; this, if nothing else, cemented the absence of any dowry. The evidence for this is that the wedding took place in Bonn, rather than the bride’s home town, which would have been normal, and there is no evidence that any member of Maria Magdalena’s family attended. One can imagine that any pride they might have had that she was marrying into the family of the Kapellmeister was undone by Johann’s documented lack of charm (admittedly more evident in later years), and his clear obsession with money.


This latter attribute is evidenced by the fact that four months after the marriage a petition was sent to the Elector of Trier on Johann’s mother-in-law’s behalf, reporting that ‘through an ill-turned marriage of her only daughter up to 300 Thalers disappeared’. This is a barely concealed accusation that Johann relieved his mother-in-law of the bulk of her savings, although it is likely the petition was deliberately written in an exaggerated way to increase Frau Keverich’s plight. It is quite possible that this transfer of money, however it took place, occurred before the marriage, or at least that the process started then, which would be another reason for the Keverich family to be against the union.*


Exactly what took Johann van Beethoven up the Rhine to the fortress town of Ehrenbreitstein in the first place is not known, but one can imagine his father’s frustration at the frequent absences as he pursued a young woman with an unenviable history before she was out of her teens from another town a good thirty-five miles away. With both families set against the marriage, we can assume that the wedding of the couple who were to be the parents of Ludwig van Beethoven was a small and one-sided affair, attended reluctantly by Ludwig senior, whose tears at his own memories might have hardened his heart still further.


The marriage took place in Bonn on 12 November 1767, and it would not be long before more heartache ensued, first for Maria Magdalena and then for both her and her husband. After the marriage Johann moved out of the large well-appointed apartment he had shared with his father, and rented a small apartment at the back of a building in the Bonngasse for himself and his wife. At the same time his mother-in-law’s already precarious mental health went into sharp decline. The same petition that cited the loss of her savings stated that she had begun to live a life of such penitence that she stopped eating and could not be expected to live long. Sometimes, it reported, she lay outside the church all night in the bitterest cold, wind, and rain. She died less than a year after her daughter’s marriage, and it must be the case that Maria Magdalena felt considerable guilt that her choice of husband, not to mention her departure from her home town, had caused her mother so much distress.


In the weeks before her mother’s death, Maria Magdalena would have realised that she was pregnant. One can only imagine what the knowledge that her mother would never see her grandchild would have done to Maria Magdalena’s already damaged emotions.


Johann and Maria Magdalena van Beethoven’s first child was baptised Ludwig Maria on 2 April 1769. One can envision Kapellmeister Beethoven’s joy at the arrival of his first grandchild, augmented by the couple’s decision to choose him as godfather, meaning that the child carried his name. For the couple, too, the arrival of a son after almost a year and a half of marriage must have been a cause of enormous family celebration, and one can imagine the stern grandfather melting towards the daughter-in-law he had not wanted to see become a member of the Beethoven family.


The infant Ludwig Maria van Beethoven died within a week of baptism. Even in an era when infant death was common, the loss of a child who carried so much hope for reconciliation must have been a catastrophe for the family. For Maria Magdalena it meant that she had been widowed and had lost two infants before she was twenty-three years of age.


Approximately a year later she fell pregnant again. As the months passed she must have been overwhelmed with trepidation about the child’s survival. As on the previous two occasions she safely gave birth, and on 17 December 1770 the infant was baptised Ludwig after his grandfather, who was once again godfather. Like his grandfather, he was given the sole Christian name of Ludwig.


There were now two Ludwig van Beethovens in the family, and as each day passed the child grew stronger. Correspondingly there occurred a remarkable change in the demeanour of the elder Ludwig. He began to be drawn towards his daughter-in-law and soon the two had established a close and loving relationship. Unfortunately this was due at least partly to a shared disappointment in Johann.


As a boy Johann van Beethoven had shown considerable musical talent, to the extent that his father removed him from school and undertook his musical training himself (a pattern that was to be repeated when Johann, in turn, removed his son Ludwig from school to concentrate on music). He sang in the court chapel both as boy treble and after his voice had broken, and at the age of twenty-four, being proficient in singing as well as on the clavier and violin, he obtained salaried employment.


Three years later Johann was married, and things started to go downhill almost immediately. It is evident that he developed a taste for alcohol. He had no shortage of drinking companions. The fish dealer Klein lived across the street, and the two men would lounge in the window making faces at each other, prior to a night’s drinking. The Fischers reported that Johann van Beethoven would spend many an evening in the tavern, often not arriving home until the middle of the night.


It cannot have helped that soon after Johann moved into his first marital home his father followed, taking an apartment just a few doors away in the same street. Ludwig van Beethoven senior was clearly a dominant, even domineering, figure, and was intolerant of his son’s behaviour. He mocked him continuously. ‘Johann der Läufer,’ he called him. ‘Johann the sprinter. Keep running, keep running. You will some day run to your final destination.’


It can’t have been easy living up to his father’s expectations, but whether his own inadequacies preceded his father’s intolerance, or the other way around, it’s impossible to say. Similarly, whether his penchant for alcohol was a cause of his father’s disappointment in him, or a form of escapism from it, must also remain a matter for conjecture.


What is beyond doubt is that an event that shook the Beethoven family to its foundations offered Johann the opportunity to turn his life round. On Christmas Eve 1773 Kapellmeister Beethoven, who had suffered a stroke earlier in the year, died at the age of sixty-one. Johann saw himself as the natural successor and the next holder of the highest musical position in Bonn.


Unfortunately for him, he was unsuited for it in every respect. His dissolute habits were well known and unfitting to such a high office at court. There had also been a noticeable deterioration in his vocal skills, no doubt caused by alcohol, tobacco, and late nights. His skills on clavier and violin were not exceptional, and he had no compositions to his name, unlike other candidates for the office.


It is dangerous to apply modern-day sensibilities to events of more than two centuries ago, but certainly a reading of Johann’s petition for the job as Kapellmeister suggests a confused, even negative, attitude:




Will your Electoral Grace be pleased to hear that my father has passed away from this world, to whom it was granted to serve His Electoral Grace(s) for 42 years, as Kapellmeister with great honour, whose position I have been found capable of filling, but nevertheless I would not venture to offer my capacity to Your Electoral Grace, but since the death of my father has left me in needy circumstances, my salary not sufficing, I am compelled to draw on the savings of my father … Your Electoral Grace is therefore humbly implored to make an allowance from the 400 rth now saved for an increase of my salary … [my emphasis]





It hardly reads like an appropriate job application, seeming on the one hand to take it for granted that the job is his, and on the other pleading for a salary increase. In any event he did not get the job. There was only one Kapellmeister Beethoven.




[image: illustration]




Of crucial importance to the future development of his son is that these traumatic events were witnessed by the infant Ludwig van Beethoven. How much comprehension a child of three can have is impossible to determine, particularly at such a distance in time. But, with the proviso that this is largely conjecture, we might assume the infant would at least pick up signs of distress in his mother, and probably too be aware that it is his father’s behaviour that is causing it.


Ludwig was one week past his third birthday when his grandfather died, and of this at least we can be sure beyond any doubt: the loss rocked him profoundly, and it is something he never truly came to terms with. He idolised – and idealised – his grandfather and spoke highly of him for the rest of his life. Certainly when his own musical talents began to emerge, he would quickly have become aware of his grandfather’s considerable achievements, at the same time no doubt witnessing the decline in his father’s.


Exactly how early Ludwig’s musical talents began to emerge is not known, but by the age of four he was being taught clavier and violin by his father, and so some special talent in the child must by then have been evident. There is considerable anecdotal evidence that Johann drove Ludwig hard, and more than one witness reports seeing the small boy standing on a footstool in front of the clavier in tears. Others reported seeing the father using physical violence, even shutting the child up in the cellar. These accounts were given many years after the event, by which time Beethoven had become famous throughout Europe, so it is possible some exaggeration had crept in. We can, though, be relatively sure that at the very least Johann van Beethoven drove his son hard in the quest to develop his musical talent.


By 1776 Johann van Beethoven had moved his family back into the Fischer house on the Rheingasse, where he had lived with his father before marriage, this time into a spacious apartment on the second floor. There were to be later moves, but this was the house in which Ludwig van Beethoven spent the greater part of his youth, and where he felt most at home.


On 26 March 1778 there occurred a remarkable event in the early life of Ludwig van Beethoven, one that has given rise to much myth and speculation surrounding the actions of his father.


Johann staged a public concert featuring one of his singing pupils, and his son Ludwig. Here is the advertisement he put in the newspaper:




Today, 26 March 1778, in the musical concert room in the Sternengasse, the Electoral Court Tenorist, Beethoven, will have the honour to produce … his little son of six years, [who will perform] various clavier concertos and trios … Tickets may be had at the Akademiesaal …





Do you spot the mistake, and, more importantly, is it deliberate? In March 1778 Ludwig van Beethoven was seven years and three months old. So why might Johann van Beethoven, on an important occasion such as this, have stated his son’s age incorrectly?


There are two possible explanations, which I shall call the ‘conspiracy theory’ and the ‘kind theory’. The conspiracy theory runs like this. Johann van Beethoven deliberately falsified his son’s age because he wanted to make him appear younger than he was. This would make his musical skills all the more impressive, leading – Johann hoped – to favourable comparisons with the boy Mozart. It was well known that Mozart’s father had taken him on tour as a child, to wide acclaim and the amassing of substantial payments. The fact that Ludwig’s birth certificate had disappeared was no doubt because Johann had deliberately destroyed the evidence.


The kind theory absolves Johann from deliberate falsification. It points out that there was a general laxity in keeping family records at that time, that on no other known occasion did Johann make an error in his son’s age, and that his own birth certificate had vanished, as well as his son’s, pointing to his general carelessness with paperwork. On this occasion he simply made a mistake.


Knowing what we know of Johann van Beethoven, it is hard to be charitable, particularly in the light of the deliberate dishonesty that was to come a few years later. It is clear that he recognised his son’s remarkable talent very early, and the fact that he put him in front of a paying audience at such a tender age is evidence of his intention to earn money through him. We know that the Beethoven family was short of funds from Johann’s impassioned plea to the Elector for an increase in salary. Even if he exaggerated the poverty, which is likely, it is still beyond doubt that they were not flush, and that this situation was compounded by Johann’s profligate lifestyle.


I subscribe to the conspiracy theory. Is it really likely that a father would not know how old his oldest son was? If he was in doubt, wouldn’t he have checked with his wife? Or if he didn’t want to do that, he could have left the age out of the advertisement altogether. I think it is beyond reasonable doubt that Johann van Beethoven deliberately falsified Ludwig’s age to impress the audience all the more with his talent.


Future events lend weight to this. Beethoven appeared confused about his age for much of his life. His second published work (of which more later) contains the words on the title page, ‘composed by Ludwig van Beethoven, aged eleven years’. It was 1783, and he was in fact twelve. Well into adulthood the confusion remained. In his twenties there is evidence that he believed he was two years older than he actually was. In his mid-thirties he clearly believed he was two years younger than he was. Living in Vienna, he asked friends back in Bonn to send him copies of his baptismal certificate, since he was considering marriage. When the first copy arrived, he refused to accept the date, claiming his friend had mistaken him for his elder brother Ludwig, who had died at a week old. The second copy also failed to convince him – he wrote ‘1772’ on the back of it. This in spite of the fact that he must surely have surmised that if he really had been born in 1772, just one year before his beloved grandfather died, he would have had no memories of him at all.


Was he confused, delusional, or just not interested in the facts? Or did his father’s falsification so affect him that he could never quite be confident of his age? We do not know the answer.


Rather more importantly for musical history, we have no idea of how that performance in the Sternengasse concert room went. We do not know what music the young Ludwig played, nor do we have any idea of whether it was successful or not, because no one wrote it up.


There is no evidence that Johann put on any more public performances, which suggests maybe that the receipts did not justify the effort. Soon after that recital, Johann did the best thing he could possibly do for his son: he put him into school. But it was not long before he then did the worst thing possible: he took him out of school to concentrate solely on music. This was in 1780 or 1781, when Ludwig was around ten years of age. For the rest of his life he suffered from an inadequate education. His handwriting was close to illegible, his punctuation and spelling poor, and he was useless with figures – there is evidence later on that he could not add up his household bills. In later life his signatures were often so erratic that future musicologists had trouble deciding whether some were authentic.


Until Johann took his young son out of school, Ludwig led what amounted to a normal childhood. There was a sandpit on the bank of the Rhine, and he and his two younger brothers often played in it. His childhood friend Gottfried Fischer reported that Ludwig and his brothers would steal eggs from the henhouse behind the Fischer house. Once, Frau Fischer caught Ludwig crawling through the fence into the henhouse.


‘Hah,’ she said, ‘and what are you doing there, Ludwig?’


‘My brother Caspar threw my handkerchief in here and I came to get it.’


‘Yes, that may well account for the fact that I am getting so few eggs.’


‘But Frau Fischer, the hens often hide their eggs, and there are foxes, they steal eggs too.’


‘Yes, and I think you are one of those sly foxes, Ludwig.’


‘Yes, I am a musical-note fox.’


‘And an egg fox too!’


Fischer adds that the two brothers ran off laughing like rogues, Frau Fischer laughing with them, unable to find it in her heart to chastise them for their monkey tricks.


On another occasion, recounts Fischer, the Beethoven brothers spotted a cockerel that had flown out of the yard and onto the top of a barn in the Fischers’ backyard. They dared each other to catch him. Together they coaxed him with bread, caught him, squeezed his throat so he could not crow. Then they ran back upstairs to the attic and laughed at their prank.


Fischer also recounts how Ludwig and his brother Caspar Carl would put a target on the garden wall of the house and shoot arrows at it. A bull’s-eye would earn the marksman the promise of a small coin.


These events, with the dialogue, were recorded around sixty years after the event,* by which time Gottfried Fischer was aware of the fame attained by the child who had lived in his house, so there might be inaccuracies in them and the dialogue polished. But I believe that, whatever may have passed between Ludwig and Frau Fischer, or between the brothers and the cockerel, it is very unlikely that Fischer would have invented the entire scenarios.


I find it beguiling to think that the famous composer of the ‘Choral’ Symphony and Fidelio stole hens’ eggs as a child.


This is all in stark contrast to Ludwig’s brief spell as a schoolboy. The school’s head described him as ‘a shy and taciturn boy, the inevitable consequence of the life apart which he led, observing more and pondering more than he spoke’. When, later, musicologists and biographers sought out his schoolfellows, not one related anecdotes of playing games with him, or even described him as a friend. There was no talk of trips on the Rhine or rambles across the hills. As early as his schooldays, his prodigious talent for music set him apart.


This sense of apartness was compounded by Ludwig’s physical appearance. His skin was dark and swarthy, unusual in northern Germany, and Fischer recounts that from childhood on he was nicknamed ‘Der Spagnol’ (‘The Spaniard’). It is inevitable, given how children are, that Ludwig will have been teased at school about his appearance. It might be conjecture, but it is not difficult to imagine playground taunts.


This is made more likely by one highly distressing anecdote. One of his schoolfellows, who later rose to high office in local government and the law, relates that as a schoolboy ‘Luis v. B. was distinguished by uncleanliness, negligence, etc.’ and he attributes this to the fact that Ludwig’s mother was already dead.


Maria Magdalena van Beethoven was far from dead. She in fact gave birth to a daughter in 1779, who died in the same year, and a son in 1781, who died two years later. The implication of this, and its effect on a ten-year-old boy, are dire. At its most basic it must mean that Frau van Beethoven was never seen either to drop her son off at school, or to pick him up later. If that is excusable on the basis that Ludwig was able to look after himself, it further suggests that nothing was known among the school community about his family. That implies no casual conversations, no playground chat, which in turn points to a lonely existence for Ludwig.


Compounding that is the starkness with which his schoolmate described Ludwig’s appearance. To be in such a state of neglect suggests Ludwig was paid scant attention at home by his mother, if she allowed him to attend school unwashed and dishevelled.


Finally, with regard to this brief, but portentous, anecdote, one can hardly begin to imagine the effect on a ten-year-old boy of his schoolfellows believing his mother was dead, when he knew perfectly well she was not. Given his state of disarray, and the penchant of schoolchildren to pick on a less fortunate schoolmate, it is more than likely he was the butt of playground jokes and jibes. He might even have been taunted over the (mistaken) belief that his mother was dead. It certainly seems as if Ludwig did nothing to correct matters, which in itself is puzzling.


This is conjecture, and again the anecdote was related many years later. But, as with Fischer, it is unlikely to have been wholly invented, particularly since its author rose to become Electoral Councillor and President of the Landgericht, the state court.


All in all, detrimental though it might have been to Ludwig to end his school career so soon, he might himself have welcomed it, since he could at least escape from schoolfellows with whom he had nothing in common, and devote himself to music.
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A year, or possibly more, before being taken out of school, Ludwig began music lessons.* If this was a good decision on the part of his father, it was rendered unhelpful by the fact that Johann chose unsuitable music teachers for him. The first was the venerable court organist Gilles van den Eeden, who had been good friends with Kapellmeister Beethoven, no doubt because of their shared Flemish heritage, and was witness at his friend’s marriage. Van den Eeden was over seventy years of age and had been in court service for more than fifty years when he began to teach the young boy.


To suggest a clash of generations would be an understatement, and one can easily imagine Ludwig, even at such a tender age, impatient to move faster than the aged musician from another era was prepared to go.


Details of the instructions van den Eeden gave his young pupil are unclear, as are the exact dates between which he taught him. What is certain, though, is that the arrangement, for whatever reason, did not last long, and Ludwig soon had a new teacher.


Tobias Pfeiffer was, by all accounts, an accomplished artist. He was also, as several contemporaries avow, something of an eccentric. Pianist, oboist, and flautist, he was also an actor and singer with the Grossmann and Helmuth theatre company, which accounts for his arrival in Bonn at the end of 1779. He took lodgings with the Beethoven family, and soon found himself employed to give music lessons to the young Ludwig.


He was highly accomplished on the flute, but apparently had little liking for it. Gottfried Fischer’s sister Cäcilie recounts how when she asked him to play the flute, he replied, ‘Oh, the flute. That instrument doesn’t interest me. You waste your breath for other people, and I don’t like that.’ However, when he did play, with Ludwig accompanying him on the piano, the result was so beautiful that people stopped in the street outside to listen. Gottfried said he heard several people say they could listen to the music ‘all day and all night’.


This anecdote is of some importance. It is the first evidence – albeit, like all the Fischer reminiscences, recalled decades after the event – of Ludwig van Beethoven performing on equal terms with an adult professional, and already establishing a reputation.


Unfortunately for the boy, though, Pfeiffer was an erratic teacher. After an evening’s drinking with Johann, the two of them would arouse Ludwig late at night, drag him to the piano crying, and force him to play. Pfeiffer would then instruct him often until daylight. It does not take a lot to imagine the horror of being aroused from sleep, forced to play no doubt surrounded by alcohol fumes, and being generally bullied by two men, one your father, the other a musician whose eccentric behaviour was earning him enemies.


That eccentricity could be dangerous as well as harmless. When asked by Fischer senior, who lived on the floor below, to stop stamping up and down his room in heavy boots because it was keeping him awake at night, Pfeiffer agreed to remove one boot but not the other. On another occasion, when the barber came to tend to the men of the house, he said something to offend Pfeiffer, who picked him up bodily and threw him down the stairs, injuring him badly.


It was perhaps as much of a blessing for the people of Bonn, as for the young Ludwig, that Pfeiffer left Bonn with his theatre company after just three months.
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We know from the records that Ludwig did not enter secondary school (Gymnasium) in the autumn of 1781. In mitigation of his father’s behaviour, it should perhaps be pointed out that it was common practice for parents in Bonn to remove their children from the education system after primary, lower-grade, school, with a view to apprenticing them so they could begin to earn a living. It had happened to Johann himself, who left before secondary school to take up an appointment as court musician.


If Johann was thinking that this was an appropriate moment to test his young son’s earning power, the perfect opportunity presented itself. Through a family connection in Holland, an invitation was made for the Beethovens to visit Rotterdam. Johann’s court duties prevented him from going, but he sent his wife and son, with clear instructions that Ludwig should perform, and be remunerated for it.


This episode is rarely mentioned in biographies, for the obvious reason that very little is known about it, and what we do know – as with the Fischer anecdotes – was related by a neighbour many years after the event. But again, as with Fischer, it is the small telling detail that rings absolutely true. That detail in this case, I believe, throws a fascinating and intriguing light on the relationship between Ludwig and his mother.


The winter of 1781 began early with bitterly cold weather. Frau van Beethoven sat with her ten-year-old son on the deck of a sailing boat as it travelled down the Rhine towards Holland. Huddled against the wind, Ludwig became very cold. His mother coaxed him to lie on the bench, took his feet onto her lap, and rubbed them to try to keep them warm.


Could this be the same woman who allowed her son to turn up at school in such a dishevelled state that fellow schoolboys thought she was dead? If we believe the anecdotes, then there were clearly emotional complexities at work in the Beethoven family that we can only guess at.


Two years before the trip to Holland, Maria Magdalena had given birth to a baby girl who died before the end of the year. In the same year as the trip, she gave birth to a son. Would a mother leave her infant of less than a year to make the trip? What arrangements did she make for the child to be looked after? Could she have suffered from post-natal depression after the death of the baby girl? And what feelings of guilt awaited her when the baby boy she left behind died at the age of two?


Question after question, and we cannot answer any of them. But, as with the hens’ eggs and the cockerel, I cannot help but be bewitched by the thought that, as titanic an artist as he was, Beethoven still got cold feet.


As for the trip, the hoped-for financial rewards were not forthcoming. The boy certainly played in the highest salons and was apparently showered with compliments, but little else. A performance before Prince Willem of Orange Nassau yielded a mere 63 florins. When his friend Gottfried Fischer asked him how it had gone, Ludwig replied, ‘The Dutch are skinflints. I’ll never go to Holland again.’ And he didn’t.


Johann also was making efforts to earn money through his son. When the Elector was absent from Bonn, and court musicians were free, Johann would take trips with his son into the countryside around Bonn and alongside both banks of the Rhine, visiting wealthy noblemen and persuading them to listen to Ludwig perform.


This afforded an opportunity not just for financial gain, but for father and son to develop a closer relationship. Although there is some evidence of the former, there is none of the latter. Neither these excursions nor the trip to Rotterdam appears to have brought the boy any closer to his parents. It is also fair to speculate that these trips, coupled with the Rotterdam experience, put him off performing ‘to order’ for life.


From Johann’s point of view, if his son really was to be a source of income for the family, as young Wolfgang Amadeus had been for the Mozarts, then he needed to acquire more skills, and that meant finding another teacher.


Whether it was Johann, or the Elector himself, who took the next step is not clear. Whoever it was, a decision was made on Ludwig’s behalf that changed his life. It was decided to employ a certain Christian Gottlob Neefe to teach Ludwig. A better man could not have been chosen. From the day he began lessons with Neefe, probably in 1781 at the age of ten, Ludwig van Beethoven began his life as a musician.





 


 




* Prince-Electors were senior members of the Holy Roman Empire who had a direct role in electing the Holy Roman Emperor, head of the Habsburg Empire, whose seat was in Vienna.







* In a bizarre turn of events almost a decade later, Johann and Maria Magdalena van Beethoven took out a suit against the Ehrenbreitstein court bailiff, who was related by marriage to Maria Magdalena and who was the guardian of her mother’s estate, accusing him of stealing the old lady’s savings. The suit was thrown out.







* Gottfried Fischer, Aufzeichnungen über Beethovens Jugend (Notes on Beethoven’s Youth).







* It is impossible to be precise. The chronology of Beethoven’s early years, as with the date of his birth, is uncertain.

















Chapter 2


The Right Teacher


This boy could become ‘a second Mozart’





The small town of Bonn, on the west bank of the Rhine, then as in more recent times, punched above its weight. Surprisingly chosen as the capital of the Federal Republic of Germany in 1949, it was, in Beethoven’s lifetime, the unlikely seat of the Elector, who was also Archbishop of Cologne and Münster. It was a medieval Archbishop who selected Bonn for his residence, rather than the more obvious choice of Cologne, possibly for the reason that the mighty Rhine narrowed at this point and could be blocked, thus bestowing on Bonn a crucial strategic importance. In later centuries it endowed Bonn with a certain grandeur, more than a veneer of aristocracy, a degree of wealth and prosperity, which its rival towns on the Rhine – Cologne, Mainz, Coblenz – could only look at with envy. And for the people of Bonn – fewer than 10,000 according to a survey in 1789 – it meant pleasant, well-tended surroundings and, more importantly, security and income. For a town with no manufacture or commerce, it was commonly stated that ‘all Bonn was fed from the Elector’s kitchen’.


Clemens August, who made his solemn entry into Bonn as Elector in 1724, endowed the town with a fine palace (now the University of Bonn) and an ornate Town Hall (today used for ceremonial functions – President Kennedy made a speech there in 1963). But, of more importance to our story, in 1733 he employed a Flemish immigrant by the name of Ludwig van Beethoven as court musician, and twenty-three years later his son Johann.


This Elector left his mark on Bonn in another way too. He danced himself to death, literally. Leaving Bonn to visit his family in Munich in early 1761, he was struck down with illness, and broke his journey to call on the hospitality of his fellow Elector in Ehrenbreitstein.* At dinner he was too ill to eat, but not it seems too poorly to take to the dance floor afterwards with the alluring Baroness von Waldendorf, sister of the Elector. She must have been exceedingly alluring, because he danced with her not once, or twice, but for ‘eight or nine turns’. Other ladies, complaining of neglect, received their turn too. If his spirit was willing, his flesh could not withstand the exertion. He passed out on the dance floor, was carried to his room, and died the next day.


I recount this story, not just to raise a sympathetic smile, but because of the impact it, and subsequent events, had on the Beethoven family. Clemens August’s successor as Elector, Maximilian Friedrich, had barely got his feet under the desk, as it were, when he received a petition from court bass singer Ludwig van Beethoven seeking elevation to the supreme musical position of Kapellmeister, the post being vacant following the death of the previous incumbent. The petition pleads with the Elector ‘to grant me the justice of which I was deprived on the death of Your Highness’s antecessori of blessed memory’, which suggests the elder Beethoven had made moves – if not in a formal petition – to be appointed Kapellmeister before the previous Elector’s untimely demise.


We can assume the death of Clemens August, and the manner of his passing, was the predominant topic of conversation at all levels among the populace of Bonn, with varying degrees of ribald observation. Certainly, at court level, it led to immediate jockeying for promotion, in particular among the court musicians, since the top job itself was vacant.


Beethoven senior’s bold approach paid dividends. By an order of the Elector dated 16 July 1761, he was appointed Kapellmeister, with an increase in salary, though less than he might have expected due to the fact that he was not a composer. A little over two years later he managed to secure a permanent position at court for his son Johann, as tenor and violinist. Between them, father and son (not yet married) were earning a comfortable sum.


This was particularly fortunate, for under Maximilian Friedrich things changed for the burghers of Bonn. The Elector himself was an affable and kindly man, sharing with his predecessor a predilection for the fairer sex, and court entertainment carried on much as before. But his popularity with his people was in stark contrast to that of his First Minister. Count Kaspar Anton von Belderbusch had been instrumental in securing Maximilian Friedrich’s election. In return he demanded – and was granted – unrivalled political power. On examining the exchequer and discovering the previous Elector’s extravagance, he came down hard on all expenditure.


Practically overnight the good life in Bonn ended. People suddenly found themselves out of work, some even losing what had previously been considered a ‘job for life’ at the court. At all levels there was a financial crackdown. A visitor from England was somewhat horrified to find that at dinner with the Elector, ‘no dessert wines were handed about, nor any foreign wines at all’, which, while it might say as much about the travel writer Henry Swinburne as it does about the Elector, at least suggests a comfortable life was expected at court, if nowhere else.


The easy-going and even-tempered Elector was not one to stand up to his First Minister, which might have something to do with the fact that Belderbusch knew rather a lot about the Elector’s private life. The two men shared a mistress, a certain Countess Caroline von Satzenhofen – who happened to be Abbess of a Benedictine nunnery close to Bonn!


Once again, this is likely to have been common knowledge, at least among court employees. It is inconceivable that there were not hushed whispers when the two men were seen together, and the fact that the Elector was as much liked as his First Minister was disliked might have had something to do with resentment at the fact that Belderbusch not only behaved as if he was Elector, but even enjoyed the services of the Elector’s mistress.


This, then, was the Bonn that Ludwig van Beethoven was born into, a town that had seen more comfortable days, that was nominally ruled by an ineffective Elector and governed by a strict disciplinarian First Minister, but that still boasted an enviable artistic life, with a busy calendar of performances by court orchestra and theatre, and was a desirable location for touring theatrical companies. It was this reputation for the arts, particularly music, that brought the thirty-one-year-old composer, organist and conductor, Christian Gottlob Neefe, to Bonn.
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A combination of circumstances made Neefe the ideal teacher for the budding young musician, Ludwig van Beethoven. As a young man in Chemnitz in Saxony he had had serious disagreements with his father, who wanted him to follow his example and take up law. Under protest he enrolled at the University of Leipzig to study jurisprudence, but was so unhappy he apparently contemplated suicide. Against his father’s wishes he gave up the law and turned to music. At the same time he immersed himself in the philosophy and ideals of the German Enlightenment, reading Gellert, Klopstock, and particularly the young Goethe.


Imagine the effect of this background on a ten-year-old boy. Ludwig’s beloved grandfather was long dead, and he was watching his father descend into alcoholism and his parents’ marriage come under increasing strain. Here was an adult who might well have poured out his troubles with his own father to young Ludwig, at the same time encouraging him to develop as a musician in the way he wanted, without reference to his father. He will also without doubt have filled the boy’s head with radical, even revolutionary, ideas. This was the decade in which the Enlightenment was sweeping Europe, questioning the divine order of things, the God-given right of rulers to rule – ideals and philosophies that were to come to such a terrifying climax in France in just a few years’ time.


Judging by an autobiographical tract he wrote in Bonn in 1782, at about the time (or shortly after) Ludwig became his pupil, Neefe believed strongly that sensual desire should be sublimated into art and the quest for ethical perfection. A more apt description of the adult Beethoven’s ethics would be hard to find.


Of crucial importance, I believe, is the rarely stated fact that Neefe was a Protestant, and he had come to live in a Catholic town. True, Bonn was hardly a hive of subversive activity, but the fact that Neefe was a Protestant would certainly have been noted. He joined the local Order of Illuminati, nominally a non-sectarian organisation with branches throughout Europe, which attracted artists and literary figures such as Goethe. Members took a vow of secrecy and obedience to their superiors, and Neefe soon became one of its leaders. The movement began in Bavaria, and when it was suppressed there, the Bonn branch dissolved itself in favour of a less suspect body, called the Reading Society (Lesegesellschaft).


Neefe became a leading light in the Reading Society, and since his pupil was in his early teens at the time, it is not inconceivable he took him along to meetings. At any rate, it is hard to imagine a more intimate, even secretive, situation than a teacher and pupil alone in a room at the piano, and the young Ludwig would easily have come to admire the forward-thinking, radically minded, intensely musical Neefe. If evidence were needed, less than a decade later Ludwig wrote to Neefe from Vienna, rather formally, ‘I thank you for the advice you have very often given me about making progress in my divine art. Should I ever become a great man, you too will have a share in my success.’ I believe that the seeds of Beethoven’s radicalism, both in music and in his personal and political beliefs, were sown in these early, impressionable years as Neefe’s pupil.


On the death of old van den Eeden, court organist and Ludwig’s first teacher, Neefe was appointed to succeed him. This was remarkable for someone who had not long since arrived in Bonn, and whose duties would require him to play at church services. It says something for the degree of religious tolerance in Bonn that Neefe’s Protestant faith did not stand in his way.


The appointment gave Neefe status. Although one might suspect that his new court duties would leave him little time for instruction, Neefe was perceptive enough to recognise that his young pupil had extraordinary talents that needed nurturing. When he expressed this view, he was listened to, given his elevated position as court organist. This led to a significant development in the life of young Ludwig.


Shortly after getting the job of court organist, Neefe was committed to a lengthy absence from Bonn with the Grossmann and Helmuth company. He proposed that his young pupil should stand in for him, and play the organ at church services. Ludwig was just eleven years of age. The proposal was accepted, even if with raised eyebrows, and one can be sure that any doubts or misgivings were laid to rest when Ludwig’s skill on the organ was heard.


Thanks to Neefe, Ludwig’s talents were now beginning to be widely appreciated. Neefe did not stop there. It was fortunate for Ludwig that Neefe was a composer. It meant that when he expressed a desire to compose, very soon after beginning lessons, Neefe did not discourage him. A lesser teacher might well have advised him to learn to walk before he could run but, perhaps recognising something of his own early enthusiasm in the boy, he encouraged Ludwig.


It is probable Ludwig had begun making musical sketches even before beginning instruction with Neefe. Whether or not this was the case, or whether Neefe gave him direct advice on what to try his hand at, in 1782 Ludwig produced a composition for piano. It was a set of variations on a march by the recently deceased German composer Ernst Christoph Dressler. Ludwig probably wrote it during Neefe’s absence. Again, a lesser teacher might have torn it to shreds, or at least criticised it heavily, even if constructively. What Neefe did, instead, was arrange to have it published.


Within a year or two of taking Ludwig on as a pupil, then, Neefe had given him the opportunity to play the organ at civic services and had arranged for the publication of his first work. Ludwig was not yet twelve years of age. Had Neefe then vanished from the scene, these services alone would have been enough to earn him his place in musical history. But there was more, much more to come.
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The marriage of Johann and Maria Magdalena was drifting perilously close to the rocks. Johann, loving his drink more and more, thought nothing of walking through Bonn gulping wine from a flask, unmindful of being seen. Gottfried Fischer gives graphic accounts of the strains in the marriage of the couple living in the apartment above him, and – again with the caveats that he was a child when witnessing what he describes and that he wrote down his memoirs around sixty years later – they have more than a ring of truth to them.


Maria Magdalena, berating her husband for drinking outside in the street, draws this response: ‘It is such hot weather that I have to have a drink.’


She replies, ‘That’s true, but you have to have a drink even without the summer heat.’


He responds, ‘You are right. I agree with you. Thank you. Tell me when it’s time to eat and I’ll come straight in.’


Gottfried recounts how Johann van Beethoven tried to plant a kiss on his sister Cäcilie, calling her ‘our patroness of music’. She replied, ‘I am not the sort of girl to go round kissing people, anyway you already have a wife, go and kiss her, not me.’


‘You are a clever little witch,’ said Johann. ‘You know exactly what to say.’


According to Gottfried, Johann chanced his luck with Cäcilie again, some years later. He made a drunken lunge at her, she deflected him with a hearty push, he knocked over the oven, pulling the stove and stovepipe from the wall. According to Gottfried’s memoirs, everyone (rather surprisingly) took it in good fun, including Johann, who said, ‘That taught me a good lesson’, and Maria Magdalena, who appears to have been in the room at the time, told Cäcilie, ‘That was the right thing to do. That’s how to handle him.’


The dialogue may be stilted, the reminiscences coloured with the passage of time. But at the very least what we have here is a musician employed at court descending into alcoholism, prone to making a fool of himself in private and public, uncaring of what this might be doing to his career and reputation.


From further anecdotal evidence it is clear that Maria Magdalena had long since given up on her husband. When he received his monthly salary, or payment from pupils, he would toss the bag of money into his wife’s lap and say, ‘There woman, manage with that.’ This is stark evidence that Maria Magdalena was in charge of the family’s finances, and her husband was acquiescent. According to Gottfried, after Maria Magdalena had the money safely in her hands, she would tease her husband about his drinking, saying, ‘A man cannot be allowed to return home with empty hands.’


‘Yes, empty hands!’ One can imagine Johann staring dolefully at his empty hands.


‘Yes, so empty,’ says Maria, ‘but I know how much you would like to fill them up with a full glass.’


‘Yes, yes,’ as a smug grin spreads across his face, ‘the woman is right, she is always right.’


Once again, if the dialogue is contrived and exaggerated, it suggests that in the early stages of their marriage at least, before Johann’s drinking had a fatal effect on his career, Maria Magdalena would be content to indulge her husband’s habit as long as the money kept coming in.


But this was not to last. There is anecdotal evidence from several sources as to just how unhappy Maria Magdalena was. Gottfried quotes her saying to Cäcilie, ‘If you want my advice, stay single, that’s the secret to having a quiet, happy life. For what is marriage? A little joy, but then a chain of sorrows.’ Cäcilie in her turn is quoted as saying that she had never seen Maria Magdalena laugh, that she was always serious. Another neighbour describes her as a ‘quiet, suffering woman’. She was apparently not above losing her temper, and on occasion was able to give as good as she got.


An unhappy marriage, then, although certainly in the early years not one beyond repair. But as Johann’s drinking took hold, it was to lead to a disastrous sequence of events that was to throw a heavy shadow over the Beethoven household.


This is the atmosphere in which young Ludwig van Beethoven grew up. According to Gottfried Fischer, Ludwig witnessed the conversation in which his mother described marriage as ‘a chain of sorrows’. He will certainly have witnessed disagreements, even rows, between his parents, and will have become aware painfully early of his father’s excessive drinking.


By the time he began lessons with Neefe, he was the eldest of three sons, there was an infant in the house who died at two years of age, and a daughter born five years later who died at the age of one.* This can only have contributed to the tensions in the marriage, and the difficult atmosphere in the apartment on the second floor of the house in the Rheingasse, which Gottfried Fischer so vividly describes.


But Ludwig had something that neither his brothers, nor anyone he knew, had. A means of escape. It must have been not just with a feeling of relief, but an overwhelming sense of excitement, that he set off each time for instruction with Neefe. An opportunity to enter the world of music, his world, where the conversation would be on a different plane from the mundanities of his home life and where, if they were discussed, they were no doubt dismissed with a wave of the hand as being too trivial to impinge on the higher calling of true art. Total escape, though, was not possible. At its most basic, Ludwig had to return to the apartment, to his mother’s sadness and despair, his father’s drunken antics, two younger brothers no doubt running riot, and a baby restless with ill-health.


Ludwig would not have been able to evade the knowledge that if his father’s career were to implode, the full weight of caring for the family would fall on his shoulders, as the eldest son. This was customary in that era. Normally the eldest son would be apprenticed to the father’s trade – as Gottfried Fischer was to his baker father – but this was not possible in Ludwig’s case. He was training to be a musician, and he had not yet entered his teenage years. How on earth would he be able to earn a living as a musician at such a young age?


Once again, history – as well as a small, apprehensive boy – owes a debt of gratitude to Christian Gottlob Neefe.
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In a remarkable leap of faith, Neefe wrote a piece for the Magazin der Musik, a musical publication owned by the German book dealer and writer on music, Carl Friedrich Cramer, in which he described the musical scene at the Elector’s court in Bonn. It was published in the issue dated 2 March 1783, and is so prescient about his young pupil that the paragraph concerning him deserves to be quoted in full:




Louis van Betthoven [sic], son of the above-mentioned tenor, a boy of eleven [sic] years and of most promising talent. He plays the clavier very skilfully and with power, sight-reads very well, and – to put it in a nutshell – he plays chiefly The Well-Tempered Clavier of Sebastian Bach, which Herr Neefe put into his hands. Whoever knows this collection of preludes and fugues in all the keys – which might almost be called the non plus ultra of our art – will know what this means. So far as his other duties have permitted, Herr Neefe has also given him instruction in thorough-bass.* He is now training him in composition, and in order to encourage him has had 9 variations on a March by Ernst Christoph Dressler published in Mannheim. This young genius deserves support so that he can travel. He would surely become a second Wolfgang Amadeus Mozart, if he were to continue as he has begun.





This is an extraordinary endorsement. Here is a professional musician going public in print with the belief that his young pupil is a musician of genius, not just of genius but potentially the equal of Mozart. In more practical terms it gives us a wonderful insight into exactly what Ludwig was capable of. At the age of twelve, he was proficient in arguably J. S. Bach’s greatest set of compositions for the keyboard, exploring all twenty-four keys, recognised at the time as some of the most difficult keyboard music ever written. There is many a professional who fails to master ‘The 48’* in a lifetime. Neefe also – and this is startling evidence of his far-sightedness – gives equal weight to the instruction he is giving Ludwig in composition.


The final two sentences stand alone as the first endorsement of Ludwig’s skills to appear in print. Neefe’s use of the word ‘genius’ and the name ‘Mozart’ could have made him a hostage to fortune, staking his reputation in print.† He clearly saw this as no risk, and history has most certainly vindicated him. Finally, I find it touchingly humble that Neefe is writing in the third person, almost as if to concentrate the reader’s mind on Ludwig van Beethoven rather than himself.


Hardly had the piece been published before Neefe set about encouraging Ludwig in his next great enterprise – more composition. One begins to form the impression that Neefe believed there was nothing more he could teach the boy in terms of performance, that in fact Ludwig might already have been a better keyboard player than he himself was. What better course of action, then, than to encourage him in his desire to compose?


This might well have been linked to the two final sentences in that paragraph published in Cramer’s magazine. In one sense they can be read as a generalised suggestion that Ludwig needed to broaden his horizons, so that he could become as good as Mozart. In another, more subtle reading, they are in effect a plea to the Elector, or failing him any moneyed aristocrat, to come up with the money that would enable Ludwig to travel to Vienna and study with Mozart.


This second reading is reinforced by the composition that Ludwig now produced. It was nothing less than a set of three full piano sonatas. If the Dressler Variations were impressive – the rapid runs in the final variation are intimidating even for a proficient player – the three piano sonatas are on a higher plane altogether. For a start it was extraordinarily bold and ambitious for a twelve-year-old to choose the sonata form, rather than something simpler such as a rondo, or minuet, or more variations. Secondly there are elements in all three compositions that point ahead to his more mature work. It has been convincingly argued that these three piano sonatas, although without opus numbers, should be included in Beethoven’s total piano sonata output, so that we should talk of his thirty-five piano sonatas, rather than the more normal thirty-two. There might be several hundred recordings of the Beethoven piano sonatas by virtuosos over the last seventy or eighty years, but relatively few that include the first three.*


If Ludwig’s choice of the sonata form was bold, the person to whom he chose to dedicate these first three sonatas showed a confidence bordering on arrogance: none other than the Elector himself, Maximilian Friedrich. And what a contrast to the dedication of the Dressler Variations. Those were dedicated to a noblewoman ‘par un jeune amateur’. The sonatas were a gift for a scion of the House of Habsburg, the most senior aristocrat in Bonn, and the letter accompanying the manuscript shows not a shred of self-doubt:




Having become acquainted so early with the gracious Muse who tuned my soul to pure harmonies, I learned to love her, and she, as it often seems to me, began to love me too … Since then my Muse in hours of sacred inspiration has often whispered to me: ‘Make the attempt, just put down on paper the harmonies of your soul!’ … I was almost too shy. But my Muse insisted – I obeyed and I composed.


And now may I dare, Most Excellent Lord!, to lay the first fruits of my youthful work on the steps of your throne? … Filled with this heartening confidence I venture to approach you with these youthful essays. Accept them as a pure sacrifice of childlike reverence and look upon them, Most Illustrious Lord!, and their young composer with favour.





Even given the touching hint of shyness, these are hardly the words you would expect from a twelve-year-old, and there can be no doubt that Neefe played a significant role not just in the composition of the sonatas, but in the choice of dedicatee and wording of the accompanying letter. And why should Neefe encourage young Ludwig to make such a bold move? To convince the most powerful man in Bonn that this youthful genius deserves the kind of help that will enable him to travel, of course.


The ploy might well have succeeded, had Maximilian Friedrich not died less than six months later. Evidence of this is the fact that in February 1784, two months before the Elector’s death, Ludwig was appointed assistant organist to Neefe. His star was in the ascendant, but fate intervened.


First, in that month of February, the Rhine burst its banks. The situation was serious, with the quarter adjoining the river inundated. The Fischer house was on the Rheingasse, so named because it ran at right-angles down to the river, and the house was on the lower portion of the street. The waters quickly engulfed the lower floors, and Gottfried Fischer wrote in his memoir that Frau van Beethoven played a leading role in calming the panic and helping residents to safety, until she had to make her own escape over boards and down ladders. This is particularly heroic, given that she had three boys aged thirteen, ten and eight, to look after. Significantly there is no mention of their father in this episode.


It was as the waters receded and the town was struggling to get back on its feet that the Elector died, replacing one form of disarray with another. The succession was immediate, since it was the custom for all Electors to have a co-adjutor, an appointed successor. In this case, the new Elector of Bonn and Archbishop of Cologne and Münster, was one Maximilian Franz.


As Ludwig had been fortunate in his teacher Neefe, he was just as fortunate in the chosen successor as Elector. The same cannot be said for his father. In fact the months following Maximilian Franz’s accession were the most difficult the Beethoven family had had to face to date.
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Max Franz, as he was familiarly known, was to play a crucial role in the development of young Ludwig van Beethoven as a composer, though it did not seem that way to start with. Endowed with an acute mind and a love of the arts, he did nothing to endear himself to his people. In fact his deportment and looks made him the butt of sarcastic humour. He was described as kindly, lazy, fond of a joke, honest, amiable and affable. He had a debilitating limp, caused when he fell from his horse on campaign in Bavaria. That put paid to his short-lived military career, and so he followed the only other career path open to a member of the ruling Habsburgs: the church.


Installed in Bonn, sedentary and inactive, he quickly put on weight, and more and more weight, and was soon chronically obese, which did nothing to improve his reputation. But he had one attribute that stilled all seditious tongues. He was the youngest son of Empress Maria Theresa, and brother of the Holy Roman Emperor Joseph II. He was also brother of Marie Antoinette (Maria Antonia), wife of Louis XVI and Queen of France. In other words, he was a senior member of the most powerful ruling family in Continental Europe.


He used that power the moment he became Elector. He shut down the theatre company, depriving Neefe of a portion of his income, and ordered full and detailed reports into every aspect of government, including musical appointments and activities. The result of this investigation was to have profound implications for the Beethoven family.


Each and every court musician was investigated, and individual reports submitted. Of the three musicians directly relevant to our story, it was a disaster for Johann van Beethoven, a potential disaster for Neefe, and rather good news for young Ludwig. The reports have survived, and make compelling reading.




J. van Beethoven, age 44, born in Bonn, married, his wife is 32 years old, has three sons living in the electorate aged 13, 10 and 8 years, who are studying music. Has served 28 years, salary 315 fl.


Johann Beethoven has a very stale voice, has been long in the service, is very poor, of fair deportment and married.


Christ. Gottlob Neefe, aged 36, born at Chemnitz, married, his wife is 32, born at Gotha, has two daughters in the electorate aged 5 and 2, has served three years, was formerly Kapellmeister with Seiler, salary 400 fl.


Christian Neefe, organist, in my humble opinion might well be dismissed, inasmuch as he is not particularly versed on the organ. Moreover he is a foreigner, having nothing in his favour, and is of the Calvinist religion.


Ludwig van Beethoven, aged 13, born at Bonn, has served two years, no salary.


Ludwig van Betthoven [sic], a son of the Betthoven sub No. 8, has no salary, but during the absence of the Kapellmeister Luchesy [Lucchesi] he played the organ, is of good capability, still young, of good and quiet deportment, and is poor.





Johann van Beethoven’s ‘very stale voice’ was tantamount to a death sentence on his career, though it was to be a few years before the axe fell. Neefe’s Protestant religion is now counting against him. Young Ludwig, it seems, has a bright future. And also a problem. If Neefe is sacked, he is the obvious successor as court organist. One can imagine the boy was torn between his natural ambition and loyalty to his teacher.


The situation was resolved by a decision to keep Neefe on, but he found his salary slashed, with a good proportion of it going to his assistant. It is the first time Ludwig van Beethoven was paid for his services as a musician. He was thirteen years of age, and it was to be the first, and almost last, salaried position of his entire life. Maybe that was the stimulus for his next grand compositional project, nothing modest: a piano concerto. But, probably realising he was not ready, he abandoned it.*


Young Ludwig, now a teenager, was acquiring a confidence that saw him start to behave in ways that drew admiration and exasperation in equal measure. In Holy Week it was customary for a court singer to sing portions of the Lamentations of Jeremiah to Gregorian chant, accompanied on the piano. In 1785 the singer was the highly respected Ferdinand Heller, and the pianist Ludwig van Beethoven. A mischievous streak, hitherto largely hidden, emerged in Ludwig, who was piqued at Heller’s self-confidence and tuneless singing.


On day two, he asked Heller for permission to try and throw him off the note by varying the piano accompaniment. Heller apparently readily agreed, stressing his experience against his accompanist’s lack of it. In the service, Ludwig’s fingers flew off in all directions, save for one finger which repeatedly struck the note that Heller should sing. Heller held his ground, but soon found the dazzling accompaniment too distracting. Towards the end of the passage, he lost the note completely.


Lacking a sense of humour, as well as the superior talent he believed he had, Heller entered a formal complaint against Ludwig with the Elector. Max Franz admonished Ludwig, but with a smile on his face, saying in future he had better stick to simple accompaniment. Kapellmeister Lucchesi, on the other hand, was a good enough musician to see that Ludwig’s skill on the keyboard was a rather more important attribute than Heller’s singing.


This anecdote was recorded by a young man who was to have the most profound influence on the life of Ludwig van Beethoven.





 


 




* The Elector whose valet Maria Magdalena would marry some two years later.







* Together with the daughter who was born and died in 1779, and the eldest son Ludwig Maria who died at a week, this means that in her first ten years of marriage to Johann, Maria Magdalena gave birth seven times – eight times in all, including the infant she bore her first husband.







* The harmonic embellishment of the bass line.







* The twenty-four keys in major and minor.







† Neefe’s assessment of Mozart is remarkable too, given that the composer was still only twenty-seven years of age, and had not yet composed many of his finest works.







* A critical edition of The 35 Piano Sonatas published in 2007 by Britain’s leading Beethoven scholar, Professor Barry Cooper of Manchester University, was the first modern edition to include all thirty-five sonatas as a set.







* The piano part, and some orchestral passages, have survived.
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